1990

Wardley Corporation Better Homes and Gardens, Norma Zampedri, Homestead Realtors, Warren Burbank v. R. David Burgess : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION STATEMENT

Original appellant jurisdiction is conferred on this Court by UCA §78-2-2(3)(j) (as amended, 1989). The plaintiffs, Wardley Corporation Better Homes and Gardens and Homestead Realtors appeal from a summary judgment order in favor of the defendant, R. David Burgess, holding that an oral extension of a written sales agency agreement was unenforceable under the statute of frauds provision within UCA §25-5-4(5) (as amended, 1989).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR APPEAL

Was the district court correct in its holding that an oral agreement between a real estate broker and its client to extend a written sales agency agreement for an additional period of time was void because it did not meet the statute of frauds writing and signature requirements of UCA §25-5-4(5) (as amended, 1989.)

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

UCA §25-5-4(5) (as amended, 1989) Certain agreements void unless written and signed.

The following agreements are void unless the agreement, or some note or memorandum of the agreement, is in writing, signed by the parties to be charged with the agreement:

. . .

(5) every agreement authorizing or employing an agent or a broker to purchase or sell real estate for compensation; . . .

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The plaintiffs commenced this action to recover against Burgess an \$8,100.00 real estate commission after having procured a qualified buyer to purchase his home for \$135,000.00 under a dated and signed March 3, 1989 Earnest Money Sales Agreement. Burgess thereafter refused to close the sale. The March 3, 1989 Earnest Money Sales Agreement was signed by Burgess after the six month term had expired within a July 26, 1988 Sales Agency Contract signed by the defendant and the plaintiff Homestead Realtors as broker. The two real estate brokers claimed that Burgess and Homestead Realtors had orally agreed, within the original six month employment term, to extend the sales agency contract for an additional three months to April 26, 1989. The district court entered summary judgment in favor of defendant and against plaintiffs holding that the oral agreement between the defendant and Homestead Realtors was void under UCA §25-5-4(5) (as amended, 1989) because the defendant had not agreed by signed written agreement to extend or modify the original July 26, 1988 Sales Agency Agreement.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

These Statement of Facts are presented with the rule of law governing this Court's review of a summary judgment order that a summary judgment must be supported by all evidence, admissions and inferences establishing the absence of any issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Creekview Apartments v. State Farm Ins. Co., 771 P.2d 693 (Utah App. 1989). After reviewing the facts in the light most favorable to the party opposing the summary judgment motion, this Court will reverse the trial court's determination if there is a dispute as to a material issue of fact. Geneva Pipe Co. v. S & H Insurance Co., 714 P.2d 648 (Utah 1986). This Statement of Facts applies the cited standard of review and states the facts in the light most favorable to Homestead Realtors ("Homestead") and Wardley Corporation Better Homes & Gardens ("Wardley").

As before the district court, these Statement of Facts derive primarily from the March 29, 1990 Affidavit of Warren Burbank Opposing the defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. This Affidavit is located within the appeal record ("Rec.") at pages 75 through 82. The Burbank affidavit has attached to it the following documents as exhibits which are located in the appeal record as follows:

- Exhibit 1 - July 26, 1988 Sales Agency Contract
(Rec. at 85)
- Exhibit 2 - July 26, 1988 Residential Contract Form
(Rec. at 87)
- Exhibit 3 - March 1, 1989 Earnest Money Sales
Agreement (Rec. at 89-90)
- Exhibit B - April 3, 1989 United Savings Bank
Closing Documents (Rec. 92-108)

Wardley and Homestead are each licensed real estate brokerages in the State of Utah. Norma Zampedri is a licensed real estate agent associated with Wardley and Warren Burbank is a licensed real estate agent associated with Homestead.

Burbank obtained from Burgess on July 26, 1988 a six month term sales agency contract to list for sale Burgess' home located at 3175 East Windriver Drive, Layton, Utah. (Aff. at 76; Ex.1 at 85). Burbank concurrently completed and Burgess signed a residential contract form allowing for Homestead's listing of the Burgess home to be published in the Ogden Board of Realtors Multiple Listing Service for a six month term ending January 26, 1989. (Aff. - Ex.1 at 85).

Material provisions of the executed July 26, 1988 Sales Agency Contract obligated Burgess as follows:

In consideration of your agreement to list the property described herein and to use reasonable efforts to find a purchaser or tenant therefore, I hereby grant you for the period stated herein, from date hereof, the exclusive right to sell, lease or exchange said property or any part thereof, at the price and terms stated hereon, or as such other price or terms to which I may agree in writing. During the life of this contract, if you find a party who is ready, able and willing to buy, lease or exchange said property or any part thereof, as said price and terms, or any other price or terms to which I may agree in writing, or if said property or any part thereof is sold, leased or exchanged during said term by myself or any other party, I agree to pay you a commission of 6% for said sale, lease or exchange.

. . .

Burbank telephoned Burgess on January 26, 1989, the final contract date for both the July 26, 1988 Sales Agency Contract and concurrently executed Residential Contract Form and obtained from Burgess an oral agreement to extend the sales agency contract for an additional three months to April 26, 1989. (Aff. at 76-77). This oral agreement was made between Burbank and Burgess because of Burgess' stated commitment that he definitely wanted his home sold. (Aff. at 77). With Burgess' knowledge, consent and participation Burbank scheduled his client's home for real estate agent conducted showings on February 1, 1989, February 9, 1989, February 10, 1989, February 27, 1989 and twice on March 1, 1989. (Aff. at 77-79). Burgess was present in the home for some of these showings. (Aff. at 77-79).

William and Sandra Roberts, through their Wardley real estate agent, Zampedri, submitted a March 1, 1989 Earnest Money Offer to purchase the Burgess home. (Aff. - Ex.3 at 89-90). Burbank discussed the Roberts' purchase offer with Burgess by long distance telephone call on March 2, 1989 while Burgess was in the State of Georgia. A second long distance conference telephone call was placed on March 3, 1989 to Georgia by Burbank and Zampedri to further discuss with Burgess the terms and conditions of Roberts' purchase offer. (Aff. at 79-80). Burbank met with Burgess at the later's Layton home on the evening of March 3, 1989 at which time Burgess accepted and signed, without modification, the Roberts' Earnest Money Offer. (Aff. at 80; Ex. 3 at 89-90).

The duly signed March 1, 1989 Earnest Money Sales Agreement provides in material part at paragraph 10:

AGENCY DISCLOSURE. At the signing of this agreement the listing agent, Warren Burbank, represents (X) Seller . . . and selling agent, Norma Zampedri, represents (X) Buyer . . . Buyer and Seller confirmed that prior to signing this Agreement, written disclosure of the agency relationship(s) was provided to him/her. (Buyer's and Seller's initials provided.) (Aff.; Ex.3 at 89-90).

The buyer contingency within the March 1, 1989 Earnest Money Offer was removed on March 16, 1989 with the announced sale closing of the Roberts' California home. (Aff. at 82). Roberts' loan application for their purchase of the Burgess home for the purchase price amount of \$135,000.00 was approved by their lender not later than March 23, 1989. (Aff. at 82). The closing for the Roberts' purchase of the Burgess home was scheduled for April 10, 1989 at United Savings Bank. (Aff. at 82). This closing was attended by the Roberts at which time they received and signed all closing documents requiring their signatures. (Aff. at 80-82). The closing was likewise attended by Burgess, who after reviewing the documents requiring his signature, refused to sign and complete the closing. (Aff. at 82). The six percent (6%) calculated real estate commission fee available to Homestead and Wardley from the gross sales price for the scheduled sale of the Burgess home at \$135,000.00 is \$8,100.00.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Homestead and Wardley each submit that the oral agreement made between Burgess and Homestead to extend the July 26, 1988 Sales Agency Contract for an additional three month term to April 26, 1989 is not void under the statute of frauds provisions within UCA §25-5-4(5). The stated issue presents a case of first impression within the State of Utah. Homestead and Wardley each urge the Court to adopt the rule of law of both Oregon and Illinois that a written extension of time is not required to satisfy the writing and signature requirements of the statute of frauds if the parties impliedly or expressly agree to the extension. Weineke Properties, Inc. v. Thiessen, 765 P.2d 815 (Or.App. 1985); Bennett and Kahnweiler Associates v. Ratner, 113 Ill.App.3d 316, 478 N.E.2d 1138 (1985). The Oregon and Illinois rule of law provides that the time of performance under a real estate agency contract may be impliedly extended when the principal, after the expiration date, encourages the broker to continue its efforts, and the broker does so with the knowledge and approval of the principal. Neither Homestead or Wardley are aware of any case law authority contrary to the announced rule of law of Oregon and Illinois where the client, after the expiration date in a real estate sales agency contract, encourages the broker to continue its efforts and the broker successfully does so with the knowledge and approval of the client.

If this Court adopts the cited Oregon and Illinois rule, material issues of fact are present in this action that Burgess and Homestead orally agreed to extend the performance time under the July 26, 1988 Sales Agency Contract and that the buyer obtained obtained by the two brokers for the Burgess home under the March 3, 1989 Earnest Money Sales Agreement was obtained with the encouragement, participation and consent of Burgess.

ARGUMENT

UCA §25-5-4(5) (as amended, 1989) provides in material part:

The following agreements are void unless the agreement, or some note or memorandum of the agreement, is in writing, signed by the party to be charged with the agreement:

(5) every agreement authorizing or employing an agent or broker to purchase or sell real estate for compensation; . . .

The cited statute of frauds has been most recently applied to a real estate brokerage by the Utah Court of Appeals in Machan v. Western Real Estate, 779 P.2d 230 (Utah App. 1989). The Court confirmed that the statute's function is to protect property owners from fraudulent and fictitious claims for commissions and applies broadly to agreements requiring compensation for brokering real estate as well as to contracts employing brokers to purchase or sell real estate for a commission. 779 P.2d at 234. The Court expressly approved the existing rule

of law within Case v. Ralph, 56 Utah 243, 188 P. 640, 642 (1920) that a real estate broker's recovery of a real estate commission is dependent upon the broker proving, by one or more writings, an express agreement setting forth the terms and conditions of employment and the amount, if any, of the commission to be paid for professional services successfully rendered. 779 P.2d at 234; see, OIC, Inc. v. Wilcox, 738 P.2d 630, 631 (Utah 1987) (Statute of frauds barred real estate broker's action to recover sales commissions under written listing agreement which was not signed by owner and which owner had not authorized his daughter to sign for him.)

All parties in this action conceded, for purposes of the summary judgment proceeding, that the sales agency contract executed by Burgess with Homestead for a six month term from July 26, 1988 to January 26, 1989 was an enforceable contract meeting the statute of frauds requirements of UCA §25-5-4-(5). The sales agency contract identified that Burgess employed Homestead to list for sale his real property and that he agreed to pay a six percent (6%) commission if a ready, willing and able buyer was obtained for the property by the listing broker or any other party during the six month contract term. Gump & Ayers Real Estate v. Domcoy Investors, 733 P.2d 128 (Utah 1987) (Real estate broker was entitled to commission under exclusive listing agreement even though purchaser was obtained by vendor, even though listing agreement contained no specific price and even

though listing agreement contained no period of duration - vendor admitted that he had signed the agreement and had never revoked the listing agreement). The affidavit of Warren Burbank alleges that Burgess orally agreed to extend the time of performance under the July 26, 1988 Sales Agency Contract for an additional three month term to July 26, 1989.

The legal issue before this Court is whether a written extension of time is required to satisfy the statute of frauds provisions within UCA §25-5-4(5) (as amended, 1989) if the parties implied or expressly agree to the extension. This legal issue presents a case of first impression in the State of Utah. Homestead and Wardley each urge this Court to adopt the Oregon and Illinois rule that a written extension of time under a real estate sales agency agreement is not required to satisfy the writing and signature requirements of the statute of frauds if the parties impliedly or expressly agreed to the extension. Both Oregon and Illinois hold that the time of performance under a written sales agency contract may be impliedly extended when the principal, after the expiration date, encourages the broker to continue its efforts and the broker does so successfully with the knowledge and approval of the principal. Wieneke Properties, Inc. v. Thiessen, 765 P.2d 815 (Or.App.1988); Bennett and Kahnweiler Associates v. Ratner, 133 Ill.App.3d 316, 478 N.E.2d 1138 (1985). Neither Homestead nor Wardley are aware of any case law authority contrary to the

Oregon and Illinois cases. A reading of Wieneke Properties, Inc., supra., and of Bennett and Kahnweiler Associates, supra., will also confirm that both Oregon and Illinois apply the precedent that a real estate broker's recovery of a real estate commission is dependent upon the broker possessing an express written agreement setting forth the terms and conditions of its employment. Neither jurisdiction, like Utah, allows a real estate broker to recover a commission under a quantum meruit theory.

The fact pattern in Wieneke, supra., originated from a real property earnest money agreement which had been accepted and signed by the defendant seller. The agreement identified the plaintiff real estate broker as both the "Listing Realtor" and the "Selling Broker". A separate agreement between the seller and real estate broker obligated the seller to pay a six percent (6%) real estate commission from the designated earnest money sales price of \$795,000.00. The earnest money agreement provided for a sale closing date on or before July 25, 1982. The sale did not close until October 18, 1982. The final sales price was for \$695,000.00. Other terms and conditions of the closing documents also differed from the executed earnest money agreement. The Oregon Court specifically found that the seller had not terminated the listing/employment agreement and that it had encouraged the seller to continue, without interruption, his efforts to close the real estate transaction. The Court concluded that the eventual October 18, 1982 closing was obtained

through the professional work product of the broker. The seller refused to pay a real estate commission fee and argued, in material part, that no agreement had been executed between it and the real estate broker extending the broker's employment agreement from the original scheduled closing date to the actual date of closing. The seller relied upon the controlling Oregon statute of frauds (ORS 41.580) applicable to real estate brokers which is virtually identical in language content to that of UCA §25-5-4(5) (as amended, 1989). The Oregon Court affirmed the trial court judgment awarding the broker a real estate commission fee with the following language:

A written extension of time is not required to satisfy ORS 41.580(7), if the parties impliedly or expressly agree to the extension. Ferris v. Meeker Fertilizer Co., 258 Or. 377, 385, 482 P.2d 523 (1971). Whether there was an agreement is a question of fact . . . The time of performance may be impliedly extended when "the principal, after the expiration date, encourages the broker to continue his efforts, and the broker does so with the knowledge and approval of the principal". Snyder v. Schram, 274 Or. 539, 542, 547 P.2d 102 (1976).

The court found that there was "no termination of the agreement". There was also substantial evidence that defendant, after the expiration date, encouraged plaintiff to continue its efforts to consummate the deal with Baker and that plaintiff continued its efforts with defendant's knowledge and approval. The court must have found, therefore, that defendants and plaintiff impliedly extended the agreement to the date of closing, and there is substantial evidence to support such a finding. 765 P.2d at 817.

The fact pattern before the Illinois Appellate Court in Bennett and Kahnweiler Associates v. Ratner, 133 Ill.App. 3d 316, 472 N.E.2d 1138 (1985) also originated from a six month listing agreement from which the lease for the real property did not close until after the termination date within the real estate listing agreement. The client refused to pay the listing real estate broker a commission upon the basis that the express deadline in the listing agreement precluded the broker from recovering a commission on any transaction finalized after the agreement's termination. The Illinois Appellate Court acknowledged the Illinois rule that the employment agreement determines the broker's compensation for its actions on behalf of its principal and that if the performance term of the listing agreement is expressly limited, the broker can recover a commission only if it fulfills its obligations within the stated term. 478 N.E.2d at 1141. The Illinois Appellate Court, however, refused to apply the cited rule of law to those circumstances where the client both allowed and encouraged a real estate broker to continue to act as its agent after the agency agreement had expired. The Court found that the principal had waived the express term of the listing agreement by continuing to urge the broker to find a purchaser for the property. In awarding the broker a real estate commission, the Court held that the principal's actions in both allowing and encouraging the broker to continue to act as its agent operated

to create an implied agreement on which the broker had relied to successfully procure a purchaser for the property. The Illinois Appellate Court refused to permit the principal to benefit from the broker's effort while depriving it of a commission. 478 N.E.2d at 1141.

Both Homestead and Wardley urge this Court to adopt the rule of law that a written extension of time is not required to satisfy the statute of frauds provisions within UCA §25-5-4(5) (as amended, 1989) if the parties impliedly or expressly agree to the extension. By adopting this precedent, this Court will not undermine the interests protected within UCA §25-5-4(5) nor will it abrogate or otherwise circumscribe the proper scope of the holding in Machan v. Western Real Estate, 779 P.2d 230 (Utah App. 1989).

The averments contained within Warren Burbank's affidavit, the March 1, 1989 Earnest Money Sales Agreement and the March 3, 1989 United Savings Bank Closing Documents to Burbank's affidavit as Exhibit "D" demonstrate that Homestead and Wardley obtained for Burgess a ready, willing and able buyer to purchase his Layton home. (Aff. at 75-82; Ex.3 at 89-90; Ex.B at 92-108). Controlling provisions of the executed July 26, 1988 Sales Agency Contract and of the oral agreement between Burgess and Homestead to extend the sales agency contract for an additional three month term, commit Burgess to pay to Homestead and Wardley a real estate commission. Vandever & Co. v. Black,

645 P.2d 637 (Utah 1982) (A broker is entitled to an agreed commission upon producing a party who is ready, willing and able to perform pursuant to the terms offered by the principal); Alphin Realty, Inc. v. Sine, 595 P.2d 860 (Utah 1979) (Rule approved that real estate broker is entitled to recover a commission where ready, willing and able buyer is obtained pursuant to terms of employment agreement); C.J. Realty, Inc. v. Willey, 758 P.2d 923 (Utah App. 1988) (Generally, a real estate listing agreement requires that real estate broker be procuring cause in bringing about sale of real property, but parties may contract for a lesser performance).

Homestead and Wardley each urge this Court to adopt the Oregon and Illinois rule of law that a written extension of time is not required to satisfy the statute of frauds provisions within UCA §25-5-4(5) if the parties impliedly or expressly agree to the extension and that the time of performance within a real estate agency contract may be impliedly extended when the principal, after the expiration date, encourages the broker to continue his efforts and the broker successfully does so with the knowledge and approval of the principal. Should this Court accept the cited rule of law, material issues of fact are present within this appeal record to allow Homestead and Wardley to proceed to trial on the merits as to whether or not they can recover a real estate commission fee against Burgess under the March 1, 1989 Earnest Money Sales Agreement.

CONCLUSION

Homestead and Wardley ask this Court to adopt the holding in Wieneke Properties, Inc. v. Thiessen, supra. and in Bennett and Kahnweiler Associates v. Ratner, supra. and to accordingly remand this action to the district court for trial on the merits.