1990

# Wardley Corporation Better Homes and Gardens, Norma Zampedri, Homestead Realtors, Warren Burbank v. R. David Burgess : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Under existing Utah case law, a listing agreement authorizing or employing a broker to sell real estate for compensation must be in writing, signed by the party to be charged, and so must any modification of such a listing agreement. Mr. Burgess did not sign any modification document, and, therefore, Judge Page correctly granted him summary judgment. The two cases relied upon by the Brokers, one from Illinois and one from Oregon, are inapposite. The Illinois case, Bennett & Kahnweiler Associates v. Ratner, 133 Ill. App.3d 316, 478 N.E.2d 1138 (1985), concerned an oral argument to modify a written extension clause in the agency contract, while in the present case, there was no written extension clause. The Oregon case, Wieneke Properties, Inc. v. Thiessen, 94 Or. App. 306, 765 P.2d 815 (1988) was based upon prior Oregon case law which had held that a written extension of time is not required to satisfy the analogous Oregon statute of frauds, whereas Utah case law has required a modification to be in writing.

Really, what the Brokers are trying to do is recover in quantum meruit, which, in fact, was part of the basis for the Bennett & Kahnweiler decision. Not only does

Utah not permit a broker to recover in quantum meruit, Machan Hampshire Properties v. Western Real Estate and Development Company, 779 P.2d 230 (Utah App. 1989), Young v. Buchanan, 259 P.2d 876 (Utah 1953), but, even if such recovery were permitted, the Brokers in this case were not entitled to it because Mr. Burgess never sold the property and, hence, has not been enriched.

#### ARGUMENT

POINT I. UNDER UTAH LAW, A LISTING AGREEMENT AUTHORIZING OR EMPLOYING AN AGENT OR BROKER TO SELL REAL ESTATE FOR COMPENSATION MUST BE IN WRITING, SIGNED BY THE PARTY SOUGHT TO BE CHARGED, AND SO MUST ANY MODIFICATION THEREOF.

Utah's Statute of Frauds states in pertinent part:

The following agreements are void unless the agreement, or some note or memorandum of the agreement, is in writing, signed by the party to be charged with the agreement:

. . .

(5) Every agreement authorizing or employing an agent or broker to purchase or sell real estate for compensation.

Section 25-5-4(5), Utah Code Annotated, as amended. In the present case, there is no valid agreement in writing that was in effect on March 3, 1989. In the district court the brokers alleged two bases for a written agreement satisfying the statute: (1) The Sales Agency Contract, R at 85, and (2) The Earnest Money Receipt, R at 89-90. However, on

appeal, the brokers apparently have not argued that the Earnest Money Receipt is a written memorandum sufficient to satisfy the statute of frauds, so counsel will address only the Sales Agency Contract.

Under Section 25-5-4(5), *supra*, a broker must allege and prove an "express contract or agreement of authority in which the terms and conditions of employment, if any, and the amount of his commission, etc., are stated," Case v. Ralph, 56 Utah 243, 188 P. 640 (1920) (emphasis added), and that such contract is in writing. C.J. Realty, Inc. v. Willey, 758 P.2d 923 (Utah App. 1988). This particular statute of frauds is part of the entire regulatory scheme applicable to real estate brokerage transactions. C.J. Realty, *supra*.

The contract, by its own terms, had expired prior to the date on which the brokers showed the property to Mr. and Mrs. Roberts, R at 89-90, but for purposes of this Court's review, Mr. Burgess must be held to have extended, verbally, the time of the Contract for 90 days beyond the expiration date, R at 76-77. It has long been the law in Utah that where an original agreement is required to be in writing to satisfy the statute of frauds, any subsequent modification of that agreement must also be in writing in order to be valid. The Utah Supreme Court recognized this rule in Golden Key Realty, Inc. v. Mantas, 699 P.2d 730

(Utah 1985). [See also, SCM Land Co. v. Watkins & Faber, 732 P.2d 105 (Utah 1986); Zions Properties, Inc. v. Holt, 538 P.2d 1319 (Utah 1975). In Golden Key Realty, supra, the supreme court held:

...The rule is well settled in Utah that if an original agreement is within the statute of frauds, a subsequent agreement which modifies the original written agreement must also satisfy the requirements of the statute of frauds to be enforceable. 699 P.2d 730, at 732.

Thus, the extension of the durational time period of the original Sales Agency Contract must not only have been signed by Mr. Burgess, but must have set forth expressly all of the conditions mentioned in Case v. Ralph, supra, and C.J. Realty, supra. The verbal extension is void under Golden Key Realty because the modification was not in writing.

The brokers cite to two cases, from Illinois and Oregon, in support of their contention that this is a case of first impression in Utah and that this Court should follow the reasoning of the courts of these other states. Appellee disagrees with both of these assertions. First, this is not a case of first impression, as mentioned above. Appellee's position is that an extension of time is a modification of the agreement, and must be in writing, Golden Key Realty, supra, and see discussion, below, of Franke v. Blair Realty Co., 119 Ohio St. 338, 164 N.E. 353

(1928). Secondly, both cases cited by Appellants are distinguishable.

At least one court of another jurisdiction has ruled that time of performance of a listing-type agreement is an essential term, the varying of which is a modification. In Franke v. Blair Realty Co., 119 Ohio St. 338, 164 N.E. 353 (1928), the essential facts were as follows: On February 28, 1926, the owner of real estate listed his property with a broker and agreed in writing to pay the broker a commission for finding a purchaser with the specified period of five days. At the end of the five days, the owner orally promised to extend indefinitely the time of performance. In reliance upon the owner's oral promise, the broker continued its efforts to find a buyer. Meanwhile, the owner, in disregard of his oral promise, hired another broker at a reduced commission, and consummated a sale with a buyer with whom the first broker was also negotiating. The lower court ruled in favor of the first broker's claim for a commission, and the owner appealed.

The Ohio Supreme Court reversed, and remanded for a dismissal of the claim, based upon the owner's motion that the claim was barred by the Ohio statute of frauds (almost identical to Utah's, see 164 N.E. 353, at 354). In determining whether the oral promise was a material change in the terms of the contract, the Ohio Supreme Court held:

The contract attempted to be avoided by oral agreement was a definite contract signed by the defendant that he would pay a commission if the property was sold "before the expiration of this agreement." The oral agreement was a new contract affecting the time of performance, and, by substituting a new time of performance, varied an essential term of the written contract. To hold otherwise would be to nullify the provisions of the statute of frauds with respect to real estate commission contracts. 164 N.E. 353, at 355 (emphasis added).

The Franke case is significant also in that the owner in Franke was the instigator and moving force in procuring the oral extension of time, whereas in the present case, a review of Warren Burbank's affidavit, R, at 89-90, shows that it was the broker who initiated and pushed for the oral extension of time of performance.

In Bennett & Kahnweiler Associates v. Rattner, 133 Ill. App. 3d 316, 478 N.E. 2d 1138 (1985), the original written listing agreement provided that the broker was entitled to a commission if the property was disposed of within 180 days after the termination date, if the lessee was a prospect to whom the property had been submitted during the term of the agreement, provided the prospect's name was submitted to the lessor within ten days following the termination of the agreement. What happened in Bennett & Kahnweiler was that the broker had procured a prospective lessee prior to the expiration of the agreement, had submit-

ted its name to the lessor within ten days of the termination of the agreement, but, due to the lessor's footdragging, and various other negotiations, the lease was not finalized signed until 207 days after the termination date. The lessor, Ratner, refused to pay the broker, Bennett & Kahnweiler, its commission.

The Illinois Appellate Court noted that the original listing agreement contained the extension clause, in writing, and that the written extension clause generated no rights or duties not already present in the listing agreement. Thus, the original written agreement contemplated, in writing, performance after the agreement's termination date. In the present case, the Contract contained no such extension clause, and the oral extension granted by Mr. Burgess was really a modification. In fact, in the district court, the Appellants argued that the rule of law in Wieneke Properties, Inc. v. Thiessen, 96 Or. App. 306, 765 P.2d 815 (Or. App. 1988) and, by implication, Bennett & Kahnweiler, supra, was applied by this court in Hurlburt v. Gullo, 750 P.2d 613 (Utah App. 1988). However, the handwritten lease in Hurlburt read as follows:

April 18, 1983

Don Foote agrees to lease approx. 5 acres with water, located at 1805 W. 400 N., Slaterville, to Don Hurlburt for \$150.00 per year. Don Hurlburt has the option to extend lease for an additional five years at the same terms ... 750 P.2d 613, at 614 (emphasis added).



Thus, Hurlburt and Bennett & Kahnweiler, are distinguishable because in both cases the written contract sought to be extended contemplated extension by its own express terms, with only the notice of election being oral. In the present case, the Sales Agency Contract contains no such express renewal or extension provisions.

Wieneke Properties, Inc. v. Thiessen, supra, appears to be more on point for Appellants, in that it did not concern a written extension-of-time clause. Appellants argue that Wieneke Properties supports their position that a written extension of time is not required to satisfy Utah's relevant Statute of Frauds. In Wieneke, however, the Oregon Appellate Court, relied upon prior Oregon case law that had already established that a written extension of time was not required if the parties expressly agreed, citing Ferris v. Meeker Fertilizer Co., 258 Or. 377, 482 P.2d 523 (1971). As argued above, prior Utah case law is to the contrary, see, e.g., Golden Key Realty, Inc. v. Mantas, 699 P.2d 730 (Utah 1985) (modification of original agreement within statute of frauds must also satisfy statute of frauds). Thus, Wieneke Properties is also distinguishable, and this fact situation, involving a modification, is not a case of first impression.

POINT II. APPELLANTS ARE REALLY ATTEMPTING TO  
RECOVER IN QUANTUM MERUIT, WHICH UTAH  
LAW PROHIBITS.

It is submitted that Appellants are really attempting to recover their commission under a quantum meruit

theory. One of the cases cited by them, Bennett & Kahnweiler, supra, was decided partly upon a quantum meruit basis, see 478 N.E.2d 1138 (Ill. App. 1985), at 1141, citing the cases of Arthur Rubloff & Co. v. Comco Corp., 63 Ill. App. 3d 362, 380 N.E.2d 15 (1978) and Dickerson Realtors, Inc. v. Frewert, 16 Ill. App. 3d 1060, 307 N.E.2d 445 (1974), for the rule that it would be inequitable to allow the principal to benefit from a broker's services without meeting the burden of payment of the broker's commission. This would, in fact, appear to contradict Appellants' assertion in their brief, that neither Illinois nor Oregon allows a real estate broker to recover a commission under a quantum meruit theory (Brief of Appellant, p. 12, lines 7-9).

Utah does not allow a real estate broker to recover in quantum meruit. In Young v. Buchanan, 259 P.2d 876 (Utah 1953), the Utah Supreme Court held that a broker or agent may recover only by virtue of a contract, and cannot recover upon the basis of quantum meruit. [See also, Watson v. Odell, 58 Utah 276, 198 P.2d 772 (1924); Case v. Ralph, 56 Utah 243, 188 P.640 (1920)]. In the Young case, the Supreme Court held:

Doubtless plaintiff rendered some measure of services resulting in Mr. King's purchase of defendant's property. It has long been established in this jurisdiction, however, that a broker or agent may recover only by virtue of contract and cannot recover upon the basis of quantum meruit. 259 P. 2d 876, at 877.

Any unfairness or harshness in this rule and its results addressed recently by this Court in Machan Hampshire Properties v. Western Real Estate & Development Company, 779 P.2d 230 (Utah App. 1989). In footnote 8, it was noted:

Although application of the statute may lead to harsh results where a real estate broker's labors go uncompensated, a broker must be presumed to know that an oral contract of employment for rendition of services in negotiating a sale of real estate for a commission is invalid. Gray v. Kohlhase, 18 Ariz. App. 368, 502 P. 2d 169, 172 (1972). A broker who fails to secure written authorization assumes the risk of relying on oral promises and has no cause to complain if efforts go unrewarded. Pacific Southwest Dev. Corp. v. Western Pac. R.R., 47 Cal.2d 62, 301 P.2d 825, 831 (1963).

Judge Orme, concurring in Machan Hampshire Properties, also observed:

While this may seem a harsh result, it does not require our apology. The very adoption of a statute of frauds reflects the Legislature's considered judgment that, with certain kinds of very important arrangements, it is preferable to invalidate a few otherwise legitimate agreements because they were not written than to burden the system and the citizenry with claims premised on bogus, unwritten agreements. 779 P.2d 230, at 237.